SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ELAINE FROHMAN, etc., et. al.

Petitioners,

SID J. WHITE SEP 16 1994

FILED

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

vs.

CASE NO. 84,038 By ______ Chief Deputy Clerk

JACOB BAR-OR,

Respondent,

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CERTIORARI PROCEEDING FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT (DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 93-0109

> MICHAEL B. SOLOMON, P.A., Attorney for Petitioners 1150 E. Hallandale Beach Blvd. Suite A Hallandale, FL 33009 (305) 454-1345/944-2397 Florida Bar No. 129603

INTRODUCTION

In this Brief, Elaine Frohman, as Ancillary Personal Representative of the Estate of Anna Frohman, deceased, and Sid Birken and Dorothy Birken, his wife, shall be referred to as "the mortgagees", or as the "Petitioners". Jacob Bar-Or shall be referred to by either his name, or as "the Respondent". Emphasis, unless otherwise noted, is supplied. The following symbols will be used herein; "R" for Record on Appeal; "T" for Transcript of proceedings taken on October 28, 1992; "A" for Petitioners' Appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The case below commenced with the filing of Complaint for Mortgage Foreclosure of a second mortgage on real property owned by Mr. Bar-Or. A Second Amended Complaint for Foreclosure (R22-26) sought a foreclosure of the aforementioned second mortgage on Respondent's real property, and also, in a second count, sought a foreclosure of a certain concurrently executed Repurchase Agreement which contained a provision encumbering three other mortgages held by the Respondent on other property as collateral security for the Plaintiff's loan (R31-33, 36-41, A2). This count also alleged that the Respondent had executed absolute assignments of mortgages to the Petitioners and/or their predecessors, as to these mortgages (R34-35).

The Repurchase Agreement recited that the Petitioners were lending Mr. Bar-Or \$55,000.00, and as Mr. Bar-Or was delivering to the Petitioners assignments for a total of three mortgages which named Mr. Bar-Or as mortgagee, that those mortgages would be:

> "collateral security for the full and prompt payment of the Note from Borrower to Lender and any fees expenses, attorney's fees or foreclosure costs expended by or on behalf of the Lender in the due and prompt collection of the moneys due pursuant to the Note as secured by the Mortgage aforesaid, which shall be secured by the collateral of the Mortgage aforesaid." (A1-2, R31-32).

Among other provisions, the Agreement provided:

"Upon the full payment of all moneys due from Borrower to Lender pursuant to said Note and any cost and expenses incurred by Lender in connection with the same, then upon the written request of Borrower accompanied by a form of Assignment of Mortgage and the payment of one and no/100 dollar (\$1.00) consideration, Lender will reassign to Borrower the Mortgage aforereferenced." (A2, R32).

The original Complaint for Foreclosure, filed on July 20, 1987, as well as the Second Amended Complaint for Foreclosure (R22-26) contained a prayer for a deficiency judgement against the Respondent.

A receiver was appointed to collect the rents on the mortgaged property, which was income-producing, for the purposes of paying the first mortgage payments. On January 6, 1989 the trial court entered an order extending the powers of the receiver, etc., which also ordered the mortgagors of the mortgages which Mr. Bar-Or assigned the Petitioners as collateral security, to remit those mortgage payments to the receiver. (R42-43) "until further order of court".

After a contested trial, the trial court entered its Final Judgment of Mortgage Foreclosure on April 10, 1989. (R44-48). After setting forth the amount due and owed by Mr. Bar-Or to the Petitioners, it also provided that Mr. Bar-Or's interest in two of the three mortgages which he had assigned to the Petitioners as collateral security would be foreclosed subject to the condition that the Respondent's interest would be sold only if the court later determined that there was a deficiency.

The lower court went on to state:

• 1

"Said foreclosure (of the collateral mortgages) shall be conditioned upon a further determination that a deficiency exist between the Petitioners therein and Respondent, Jacob

-3-

Bar-Or. (A7, R47)."

The Judgement went on to specify in paragraph 14 that if the court found that there was no deficiency, that the mortgages would be free of any liens or claims of the Petitioners; or, if the court found that there was a deficiency, then Mr. Bar-Or's interest in these mortgages would be sold at a foreclosure sale for cash to satisfy the amount of said deficiency judgement.

The court reserved jurisdiction specifically for the purpose of making such orders as are just and equitable, and for purposes of "entry of a deficiency decree should such decree be required." (A7, R48).

As of the date of the sale, according to the Final Judgment, the Petitioners were "out of pocket"; 1/ The amount of the Final Judgement was \$126,397.72 (R45). 2/ \$40.56 in extra expenses of sale, 3/ \$2,106.60 in post-judgement interest, and 4/ the amount of net advances by the Petitioners to the receiver from the date of Final Judgment to the date of sale, \$3,540.00; for a total of \$134,191.48. The Petitioners were the successful bidders at the sale and they took the property subject to a first mortgage on the property whose balance was \$259,760.00. The appraised market value of the property at the time of the sale was approximately \$315,000.00. Had the Mortgagees then applied for a deficiency, it would have arguably been approximately \$78,950.00.

However, first the receiver, and later the Petitioners, after the receiver was discharged by virtue of the Final Judgment being entered, continued to collect mortgage payments on the mortgages

-4-

that Mr. Bar-Or assigned to the Petitioners by virtue of the Repurchase Agreement. The Petitioners, beside mortgage payments, received a net amount of \$57,411.77 of principal payments on these mortgages as of April 10, 1992, when these mortgages were paid off prematurely due to the sale and refinance of the encumbered property (R61).

From the Date of the Final Judgement through April 10, 1992, the net amount "due" the Petitioners was accruing interest at the legal rate. This interest was being more than offset by payments that were assigned by Mr. Bar-Or under the Repurchase Agreement to reduce the balance still due. It was on this payoff date, for the first time, that the actual amount of any deficiency could be determined.

Six month later, on October 12, 1992, the Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute (R49). Eight days later, the Petitioners filed a pleading which contained the Petitioners' Statement of Good Cause (R50-55). This Statement set forth good cause for non dismissal based on non-record activity that took place in the year prior to the filing of the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute, to wit: from October 12, 1991, through October 12, 1992. These reasons were:

1. That it was impossible to determine the amount of the deficiency judgment for the first six months of this one-year period because mortgages assigned to the Petitioners as collateral which were "paying down" the amount still owed to the Petitioners

-5-

by the Respondent below and were not paid off until approximately April 10, 1992.

2. That one of the Petitioners, Elaine Frohman, as Personal Representative, could not take any action in this proceeding as the ancillary estate of her predecessor in title had been previously dismissed and her status was not reinstated until April 13, 1992.

In the interim, Petitioners' counsel learned that the Respondent was attempting to seek ownership of the mortgages he had collaterally assigned to the Petitioners by virtue of certain language contained in Paragraph 14 in the Final Judgment of Mortgage Foreclosure, above recited. (R4-8). Based upon this, on October 27, 1992, the Petitioners filed an Amended Motion for Relief pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540(b)(5), (R56-60). The Petitioners also then filed their Motion for a Deficiency Judgement against the Respondent (R61-62).

...

On October 28, 1992, a hearing was held upon the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. The Petitioners' counsel argued to the trial court judge (not the original judge) that Rule 1.420(e) could not apply to dismiss the court's continuing jurisdiction to entertain a proceeding for a deficiency since no motion for deficiency had been filed as of the time the Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution had been filed. Alternatively, counsel argued that good cause existed via nonrecord activity within the one-year prior to the filing of the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute because the matter was not ripe for the imposition of a deficiency as the amount owed by

-6-

the Respondent to the Petitioners was fluctuating during the first six months of the preceding year and only became crystallized approximately six months prior to the filing of the Respondent's Motion. It was also argued that until less than six months prior to that time, one of the Petitioners below could not proceed because in order to continue proceedings, she had to be reestablished in her status as personal representative of the estate of the Mortgagee's predecessor in title. (T12-13).

Counsel for the Respondent below argued the effect of case law authority as well. He concluded his argument by stating, in relevant part as follows:

> "If this court... does not dismiss this for failure to prosecute this case, it will go on forever...

> > * * *

This case has been lying idle for three and one-half years and it is time to dismiss." (T16).

Thereafter, the court ruled:

4.5

"I agree with what he's saying with regard to the argument at the end (quoted above)...

We have a finite period of time for the resolution of cases that are called for in the spirit of those rules and I think there is much that you could have done in that period of time." (T16-17)

The following colloquy then took place between Petitioners' counsel and the court:

"MR. SOLOMON: Even though the collateral security that beard [sic] on the amount was

not satisfied until April of this year, Judge? THE COURT: Yes, sir. What happened in May, June, July, August, September, October? MR. SOLOMON: We have a year from that time." (T18).

The court thereafter entered its Order granting the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. (R63) (Clerk's Index indicates date of 10/20/92 which is erroneous/<u>See Record</u>).

Accordingly, the Petitioners' Motion for Deficiency was not entertained by the court. On November 9, 1992 the Petitioners filed their Motion for Rehearing from this Order (R64-67), which was denied on December 9, 1992 (R70).

Petitioners' The also considered the lower court aforementioned Amended Motion for Relief, which requested that Paragraph 14, or portions thereof in the alternative, of the Final Judgment, referred to above, be set aside in that it was no longer equitable that those provisions remain in effect. The Petitioners argued that if the court granted the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute (which it did) then the court could not consider the matter of the deficiency. They argued that if this were the case, then all language in the paragraph of the Final Judgment relating to foreclosure and ownership of the mortgages which the Respondent assigned to the Plaintiff as collateral was moot as the "deficiency determination by the Court" as required in the subject paragraph, could not be made. They also additionally argued that in any event, because the collateral

-8-

mortgages had now been paid off and satisfied, it would be impossible to implement the provisions contained in that paragraph, which provided that if it was determined that there was no deficiency, then the Respondent below would resume all right, title, and interest to the mortgages. It was pointed out that the Respondent would attempt to seize upon a single sentence in said Paragraph 14 in an attempt to somehow create a cause of action against the Petitioners for their satisfaction of these mortgages. That sentence stated:

> "In the event that no deficiency is adjudged, then in that event, the effect of this Order shall be that said mortgage just shall be free of any liens or claims of Plaintiffs." (A4)

Although the Respondent had filed no motion or pleading as of this date concerning his claim to ownership of these mortgages and accordingly, his claim that the Petitioners wrongfully satisfied these mortgages, his position, and the motivation for the Petitioners' request to delete this paragraph from the Amended Final Judgment on the grounds that it was not equitable for it to prospectively apply is found in part of the argument of the Respondent's counsel at the prior hearing upon his Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute:

> satisfied these mortgages, these "[T]hey assigned mortgages in April of this year. Ι would like the Court to understand that the final judgment in this case in Paragraph 14 recites... that the interest of the assigned mortgages as collateral are foreclosed. That's subject to conditions. Paragraph 14 says, foreclosure shall be conditioned upon further determination that a deficiency exists plaintiffs between the herein and the defendant. In the event that no deficiency is

> > -9-

adjudged, then in that event, the effect of this order shall be that the mortgages should be free of any liens or claims from plaintiffs."

"Plaintiffs in this case are guilty of egregious wrong relative to this defendant. Those mortgages were on the custodia legis of this court. They were subject totally to the jurisdiction of this court. The Plaintiff is now asking that this court go back and amend its final judgment so as to relieve them of their unlawful misconduct..." (T15-16).

The Petitioners argued not only was it inequitable for this paragraph to prospectively apply because of the conduct of the Respondent - he did nothing for more than three and a half years to attempt to claim interest in his former mortgages - and was therefore barred by laches and acquiescence; but that because of the unexpected premature pay-off and satisfaction of these mortgages, which deprived all parties of any right title and ownership in the mortgages, it was likewise inequitable to even consider enforcing the Respondent's wrongful interpretation of this paragraph whereby he sought to somehow regain an ownership interest in mortgages which have now been satisfied with funds owed to, pledged to, and owned by the Petitioners. Finally, the Petitioners argued that the proper interpretation was via resort to all of the provisions of Paragraph 14 which disclosed nothing more than the court's ruling that the Respondent's ownership rights to these collateralized mortgages vel non depended upon a "deficiency determination by the court" as stated in this paragraph (A4) (R59).

The lower court denied the Petitioners' Amended Motion for Relief on December 16, 1992 (R71).

-10-

Thereafter, an appeal was timely filed (R72-73) in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. On June 1, 1994, the Fourth District entered its <u>per curiam</u> opinion affirming the trial court and citing as authority its decision in <u>Financial Security</u> <u>Savings & Loan Ass'n v. Espana River Partnership</u>, 537 So.2d 683 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); also citing to Rule 1.420(e).

The Fourth District, however, also certified conflict with the holdings in <u>Riesgo v. Weinstein</u>, 523 So.2d 752 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) and <u>Ravel v. Ravel</u>, 326 So.2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976) and certified the following question as one of the great public importance, as was earlier certified in the <u>Financial Security</u> case:

"DOES FLORIDA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 1.420(e) APPLY TO A POST-TRIAL PROCEEDING SUCH AS A MOTION FOR A DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT IN A MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE SUIT?" On June 14, 1994, the Petitioners filed their Motion for

Rehearing and/or Clarification which pointed out that the Fourth District erred in the factual portion of its opinion when it stated that "the trial court dismissed appellants' Petition for a deficiency decree solely because the petition was filed more than one year after the final judgement of foreclosure was entered". It was also noted out that the Motion for a Deficiency Judgement was never "dismissed" as no motion was directed to it; the Motion for Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution filed by the filed prior to the Motion for a Deficiency Respondent was The Motion to Dismiss was filed during the latent Judgement. period of reservation of jurisdiction following the Final The Court was advised that the Motion to Dismiss only Judgement. sought to dismiss the lower court's "reservation of

-11-

jurisdiction".(R49). It was further pointed out that by contrast, <u>Financial Security</u>, the decision upon which the Fourth District decision hereinbelow was based, was factually distinct; there, the motion to dismiss was filed <u>after</u> the petition for a deficiency had been applied for. It was finally pointed out that in at least one of the cases cited as conflict, <u>Riesgo v. Weinstein</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Second District ruled a dismissal improper in a "pure" reservation of jurisdiction case, where no post-judgement proceeding had been initiated.

It was therefore requested that the Fourth District revise the factual recitation portion of its opinion, indicating that the dismissal was of the court's reservation of jurisdiction, and it was asked to reframe the question certified as follows:

"DOES FLA.R.Civ.P. 1.420(e) APPLY TO A POST-JUDGEMENT RESERVATION OF JURISDICTION OR TO A POST-TRIAL PROCEEDING SUCH AS A MOTION FOR A DEFICIENCY JUDGEMENT IN A MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE SUIT?"

On June 27, 1994, the Fourth District denied the Motion for Rehearing and/or Clarification.

Thereafter, this proceeding was timely brought.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute since that court had reserved jurisdiction for purposes of the entry of a number of possible post-judgement orders, including an order imposing a deficiency. Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.420(e) does not apply post-judgement, or, if it does

-12-

apply post-judgement, it only applies once supplemental proceedings were brought to establish a deficiency against the Respondent below. Notwithstanding the above, there was sufficient of nonrecord activity during the one-year prior to the lower court's dismissal, so as to preclude a dismissal for lack of prosecution.

Further, the dismissal had the effect of nullifying provisions of the Final Judgement.

Once the trial court had dismissed the Petitioners' suit, post-judgement, for failure to prosecute, even though it has reserved jurisdiction, it was an abuse of discretion for the court not to modify the Final Judgement by either eliminating or amending a provision in it which would prospectively foreclosed ownership rights in mortgages assigned as additional collateral to the Petitioners, tying this foreclosure to an adjudication of a deficiency against the Respondent, as this was no longer possible. Accordingly, it was "no longer equitable that (this provision of) the Judgement... should have prospective application", which is a ground for relief contained in Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540(b)(5).

هي.

Accordingly, the District Court of Appeal's affirmance, based upon its holding in <u>Financial Security Savings & Loan Assc. v.</u> <u>Espana River Partnership</u> is misplaced, for all of the above reasons, and especially for the reason that the dismissal rule does not apply either post-judgement, or during a post-judgement period of reservation of jurisdiction. The Second District's holdings in <u>Ravel v. Ravel</u>, in <u>Riesgo v. Weinstein</u> should be adopted by this

-13-

Court for purposes of interpreting the application of Rule 1.420(e).

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL INCORRECTLY HELD THAT RULE 1.420(Θ) APPLIES POST JUDGEMENT.

A. BACKGROUND

Striped to its very essentials, these are the relevant facts concerning this and the following three points on appeal: The Petitioners sued the Respondent to foreclose a second mortgage on apartment buildings, and for a deficiency, if warranted, alleging a breach of the promissory note secured by said mortgage. The case finally resulted in a Final Judgement of Foreclosure almost two years later, on April 11, 1989, whereby the lower court reserved jurisdiction for a number of purposes, including for purposes of determining a deficiency, if any.

At the time the Respondent signed the Mortgage, he also signed a Repurchase Agreement whereby he pledged three mortgages he owned as collateral security for this loan. Shortly before the Final Judgement, the court ordered and the mortgagors on two of the three of those mortgages to make payments to the court-appointed receiver. Those payments were utilized to defray the operating expenses, etc., of the apartment buildings. During the course of the foreclosure proceedings, the Petitioners' amended their Complaint in an attempt to foreclose out the Respondent's rights in

-14-

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