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

As an aside, Appellants have recited to many non-record facts in this (and the preceding) appeal to the Fourth District, and it is anticipated that such liberties will also be taken upon oral argument before this Court, preparation for which by Appellee is impossible.

Appellants argue, and Appellee concedes, that throughout this State numerous "work-outs" and stipulations for settlement occur every day in which matters are to be performed post-judgment. Appellants attach an actual copy of an order in another case to reinforce what is an otherwise unchallengeable assertion. However, suffice it to say that courts have inherent, continuing

jurisdiction to enforce the provisions of their judgments, but such jurisdiction exists only for the purpose of enforcing judgments over which the trial court has otherwise lost jurisdiction. Hopwood, et al. v. Revitz, et al., 312 So. 2d 516 (3 DCA 1975); Buckley Towers Condominium, v. Buchwald, (321 So. 2d 628 (3 DCA 1975); Broadband Engineering, Inc. v. Quality, etc., 450 So. 2d 600 (4 DCA 1984).

The fundamental rationale of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.420(e) is to preserve the precious time of the court while imposing only a modicum of required attentiveness upon those who would seek affirmative relief as litigants. The Fourth District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

POINT III. APPELLANTS FAILED TO MEET THE REQUISITE "GOOD CAUSE" STANDARD NECESSARY TO EXCUSE TOTAL LACK OF RECORD ACTIVITY; AND INEXCUSABLE NON-RECORD ACTIVITY.

This Court, in DeDuca v. Anthony, 587 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1989) found that even record activity, if merely passive activity to keep the case on the docket, is insufficient to avoid dismissal. Appellants admit that there was *no post-judgment record activity at all* in the instant case and it is thus a non-issue.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal has previously determined in Freeman v. Toney, 603 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 4 DCA 1992) (citing cases) that good cause to avoid dismissal in the absence of record activity under Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.420(e) is subject to a two-prong test which

" . . . requires some contact with the opposing party and some form of excusable conduct or occurrence which arose other than through negligence or inattention to the pleading deadline." (Emphasis supplied). Freeman at 684.

Notwithstanding that other Districts (cited in Freeman v. Toney, *supra*) may vary in their immediate expression of what constitutes "good cause", the test is essentially the same. That test, firstly, requires some contact with the opposing party.

Appellants do not assert contact with the Appellee for the period of several years lapsing between Final Judgment and the filing of the Appellee's Motion To Dismiss For Failure To Prosecute. If, indeed, the test enunciated by the Court in Freeman v. Toney is the test of Appellants' conduct, this Court need go no further in this case, and must, accordingly, deny the appeal. However, due to Steketee v. Ballance Homes, Inc., 376 So.

2d 873 (2 DCA 1979) (vigorous non-record activity) and the plethora of assertions of non-record fact by Appellants, some rebuttal seems appropriate.

Appellants argue that they had no choice but to wait until the collateralized mortgages were paid off, because they allege that, until then, it was impossible (IB *passim*) to determine whether the collateralized mortgages were of sufficient value to avoid a deficiency application. As stated elsewhere in this brief, the valuation of intangible property, whether mortgages or otherwise, is not an esoteric science which makes such valuations indeterminable. Valuations of property, even property rights, is the day-to-day activity of all probate divisions of circuit courts in this state, assisted by experts, of course. Rather, it is clear that Appellants *did not want to move for a deficiency*, arguably because Appellants were receiving, during the years after judgment, all payments on the mortgages and did ultimately receive approximately \$38,000.00 in pay-offs of those two mortgages, mortgages which were owned by Appellee and which were subject to the jurisdiction, flagrantly disregarded by Appellants, of the trial court. Appellants have stated that:

" . . .until those mortgages were unexpectedly paid off in April, 1992, they (Appellants) had no way of being able to establish a deficiency which was fair to the Respondent (Appellee)." (IB42).

Such statement by Appellants of benevolence to Appellee, upon the facts of this case, prompts the following questions concerning the absence of contact with the Appellee:

1. Why was neither the trial court nor Appellee given notice that the Appellants, rather than the court-appointed receiver

(whose duties were continued by the court post-judgment), were receiving all payments on the collateralized mortgages?

2. Why was neither the trial court nor Appellee given notice that the payments, at least as alleged by Appellants, were being applied to the existing first mortgage on the foreclosed real property (or otherwise), then owned by Appellants by virtue of the clerk's foreclosure sale?

3. Why was neither the trial court nor Appellee given notice that the Appellants negotiated to receive tens of thousands of dollars for payoffs of the collateralized mortgages in April, 1992?

4. Why was neither the trial court nor Appellee given notice that the Appellants *did* receive the tens of thousands of dollars in payoffs?

5. Why did Appellants wait for six months, after Appellee had learned of the payoffs and filed a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute, to disclose the aforesaid facts to the court and to the Appellee?

Appellants suggest, to shift the burden of lack of activity to Appellee, that they heard nothing from the Appellee during the same time period and thought he was abiding the terms of the Repurchase Agreement and allowing this course to take place. Appellee was abiding the terms of the Final Judgment, and had the right to assume that the Appellants were doing the same. Appellee was a non-lawyer who had, by acknowledgement of Appellant, several attorneys during the below litigation. Appellee's ingenuousness in legal matters is self-proving from the pro se appeal taken by him, also referenced by Appellant. He was under a

court order, was understandably unsure of the status of his two mortgages, was not entitled to receive payments from the mortgages which were ordered to be paid to the receiver, and was obviously concerned about the possibility of a deficiency being imposed against him. However, as wryly put in Hanson v. Poteet, 556 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (which case was also cited by Appellants), Appellee ". . .had little or no reason to ever seek a resolution of (his) opponent's claim" (at 829) simply because the collateralized mortgages belonged to him under the terms of the Final Judgment.

The second prong of the test enunciated by the Court in Freeman v. Toney, *supra*, requires ". . .some form of excusable conduct or occurrence which arose other than through negligence or inattention to the pleading deadline." (at 864). It is this portion of the test of Appellants' conduct under which Appellants seek relief from the dismissal below.

The Appellants recite to Steketee, *supra*, as having a "similar fact pattern to the case below". (IB43). Although there are some similarities to the instant case, such as the original pleading requesting a deficiency, it is clear that the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal differ in their approach to the question of dismissals under Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.420(e).

The approach by the court in Steketee reflects appreciation of the "good cause" non-record activity by the plaintiff in that case. In Steketee, the Court remarked that in the period of two or so years after final judgment was rendered in the trial court, the plaintiff therein was ". . .embroiled in several other lawsuits concerning the subject real property" (at 874) and that

the plaintiff had ". . . presented proper evidence of all the related litigation. . ." (at 875) to the trial court. The factual differences between the instant case and Steketee are therefore distinctive.

It is not possible that the meager acts of Appellants, wrongful and contrary to the Final Judgment and good conscience as they were, should constitute such non-record activity as to justify avoidance of the dismissal for failure to prosecute. Respectfully, the decision of the trial court, as affirmed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, should not be disturbed.

POINT IV.

APPELLANT SEEKS EQUITY, BUT THE FACE OF THE RECORD BELOW AND THE FACTUAL CIRCUMSTANCES POST-JUDGMENT AND ADMITTED BY APPELLANTS SHOULD DENY EQUITY HEREIN; MOREOVER, THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO REVERSE DENIAL OF APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR RELIEF UNDER 1.540(b)(5).

The relief sought by Appellants pursuant to their Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.540(b)(5) motion for relief from judgment should be denied. The portion of the Rule under which Appellants sought relief and urged upon the trial court by motion is:

". . .the court may relieve a party . . . from a final judgment . . .for the following reasons: . . .(5). . .it is no longer equitable that the judgment or decree should have prospective application."

It is expedient to recite that, since the court below dismissed for failure to prosecute, the motion of Appellants under Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.540(b)(5) became, thereby, moot. However, more discussion is required to respond to Appellants.

Appellants filed their motion for relief from judgment after the Appellee's motion for dismissal was filed, and Appellants were thus painfully reminded that they must deal with circumstances which they no doubt hoped were past history. The prefatory Statement of Facts of this brief and the discussions in the preceding points in this brief reflect that the acts and omissions of the Appellants below do not justify the equitable relief from judgment sought by Appellants.

The Repurchase Agreement (A4) which was executed as a part of the entire mortgage loan transaction between the parties, and which was *in pari materia* to that transaction, specifically provides, as to the two collateralized mortgages that "1. The notes and mortgages referenced shall be collateral. . ." for the

obligation undertaken by Appellee for repayment. At the inception of the underlying transaction between the parties which ultimately gave rise to the litigation below, no separate, distinct, complete right of ownership in the two collateralized mortgages in question was transferred from Appellee to Appellants, merely a collateral interest, notwithstanding that the Appellants assert that they had total authority to deal with the mortgages after, and in derogation of, the Final Judgment. Appellants were required to foreclose the collateralized mortgages by § 697.01(1) Fla. Stat. and, even if it is construed that they were not required to foreclose to achieve a remedy, they nevertheless sought foreclosure by submitting to the jurisdiction of the trial court, and now complain about the exercise of that subject matter jurisdiction.

The Final Judgment, rendered as it was after a trial below in which all well-plead issues and causes of action by Appellants were adjudicated, is *res judicata* as to the issues presented by the Appellants at the trial level, as here, and the Appellants are estopped by that same Final Judgment to challenge its content or effect. 32 Fla Jur 2d, Judgments and Decrees § 96, *et seq.* Appellants are also estopped, years later, to claim that the Final Judgment did not embody the true intent of the Court in its adjudication of those issues, or that equity should dictate its modification to avoid "prospective" application. 32 Fla Jur 2d, Judgments and Decrees § 85, *et seq.*

The trial court correctly denied the Appellants' application for relief from judgment. It was pointed out to the trial court (T5, 15) that the Appellants had violated the Final Judgment by

usurping the receiver's duties, receiving payments in violation of the Final Judgment, satisfying the collateralized mortgages which were, essentially, *in custodia legis*, thereby permanently depriving Appellee of the benefits of and equity of redemption in the collateralized mortgages, and other matters. It was also pointed out that the Appellants, over three years after the Final Judgment was entered, were attempting to give validity to, and give retrospective indulgence to, their antecedent wrongful acts by seeking a modification of the Final Judgment to which their post-judgment conduct would, then, conform. The conduct of Appellants, who were not ingenuous mortgagees, was doubtlessly intentional.

The Appellants seem to be saying that their post-judgment acts and omissions might be deemed equitable, legal, and justified, notwithstanding the obvious rights determined and constraints imposed by the Final Judgment below, if only the trial court had granted them relief, *nunc pro tunc*, from the Final Judgment (which they sought by their 1.540(b)(5) motion below).

The Final Judgment, as elsewhere stated, determined the substantive rights, duties, benefits and liabilities of the parties in the matters before the trial court. Appellants, by seeking relief from the Final Judgment through elimination of important provisions in it, seek, without relitigation, to revise the trial court's determination of the substantive issues at trial by a retrospective revision of the Judgment.

Appellants have gone to great lengths, without providing a record, to assert facts of which the judge who presided at the

trial was "supposedly" aware. Astoundingly, Appellants are suggesting that the different judge who, in excess of three years after Final Judgment, dismissed the case upon motion, and who did not have intimate familiarity with the prior proceeding, for that same reason should have granted the relief from judgment sought by Appellants. Appellants should not complain that the judge who dismissed the case was not familiar with the background of the case and should not have dismissed it; yet, on the other hand, that the same judge who was without knowledge should have acted on Appellants' motion under 1.540(b)(5) to either "amend or remove" the provisions of paragraphs 13 and 14 (IB29).

A favored maxim in equity is ". . .that equity will not suffer a wrong to be without a remedy." 22 Fla Jur 2d, Equity § 60. This Court should not grant relief to Appellants when Appellee has suffered an irreversible wrong at the hands of Appellants. Were the Appellants diligent in the interim after Final Judgment to pursue their right to have the court decide whether or not a deficiency existed? Were the Appellants acting equitably upon usurpation of the receiver's authority? Were the Appellants' acts consonant with fairness in receiving payments on and satisfying mortgages which were, essentially, *in custodia legis*, by virtue of the constraints imposed by the trial court's Final Judgment, or were the acts contemptible?

Perhaps most importantly to Appellee, can Appellants return Appellee's equity in the collateralized mortgages?

The constraints of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.540(b)(5) require that the Court should act out of equitable considerations. Should the lower court below be reversed, and Appellants' conduct below be

thereby validated, equity cannot demand that the collateralized mortgages be returned by the Appellants to the jurisdiction of the lower court---equity cannot demand an impossible performance--and the collateralized mortgages are, by virtue of having been paid Appellants and satisfied of record, unreturnable to Appellee.

The court below found no equity with Appellants and the ruling should not be disturbed in the absence of a clear showing of abuse of discretion by the trial court. Huertas v. Palm Beach County, 602 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 4 DCA 1992) (on rehearing).

The Final Judgment is clear in its finding and holding that Appellee is entitled to the two collateralized mortgages, free of any claim and claim to lien of Appellants. It is solely due to the misconduct of Appellants in usurping the authority of the receiver appointed by the trial court that Appellee has been deprived of the benefits of payments under the two collateralized mortgages and the benefit of the payoff of each of them.

This Court should cause to be done that which should have been done in the circumstances, that is, to remand this cause with directions to enter judgment in favor of Appellee for the amounts of the receipts from the two collateralized mortgages wrongfully received by Appellants, including regular or other payments and the balloon payment(s) received by Appellants, such amounts to be determined upon evidentiary hearing by the trial court.

POINT V.

THE APPELLANTS' CASE IS MOOT SINCE EITHER OR BOTH OF RULE 1.420(e) OR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS (§ 95.11 FLA. STAT.) BARS THE RELIEF SOUGHT BY APPELLANTS FOR DEFICIENCY.

§ 95.11 Fla. Stat. reads, in part, as follows:

"Actions. . .shall be commenced. . .as follows: . . .
.(2)WITHIN FIVE YEARS--. . .(b) A legal or equitable action on a contract, obligation, or liability founded on a written instrument. (c) An action to foreclose a mortgage.

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